WHY FOTHERINGHAY? THE LOCATION OF THE TRIAL AND EXECUTION OF MARY, QUEEN OF SCOTS
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She was executed in the Great Hall at Fotheringhay Castle (sacred Place!) on Wednesday the 8th of February – 1586 – to the everlasting Reproach of Elizabeth, her Ministers, and of England in general.

She smiled; but Time, the old Saturnian seer,

Sighed on the wing as her foot pressed the strand,

With step preclusive to a long array

Of woes and degredations hand in hand –

Weeping captivity, and shuddering fear

Stilled by the ensanguined block of Fotheringhay!*

After the exposure of the Babington conspiracy, when Mary Queen of Scots was imprisoned at Chartley in Staffordshire, there was much debate in the Privy Council over where she should be tried and, they hoped, executed. The Tower was at first favoured, but was vetoed by Elizabeth. Other suggestions included Woodstock, and Hertford, a royal castle which had much earlier been used for the imprisonment of David Bruce, King of Scotland. Hertford was looked on favourably, but was felt to be dangerously close to London.
 Eventually Elizabeth decided on the location which she had originally favoured, Fotheringhay. The bloody history of Fotheringhay Castle is a cliché – one much embroidered by romantics – but the reasons why this remote Northamptonshire village became the site for the trial and execution of the Queen of Scotland have not been much examined,
 and yet they provide a fascinating insight into the political, historical and public thinking of the Elizabethan regime.       

Fotheringhay’s situation and condition made it a suitable location for the trial and execution of an extremely dangerous prisoner. It was heavily fortified – although Sir Amyas Paulet, Mary’s then keeper, expressed some anxiety about its defensibility
 – and distant from London,
 but with good communications along Ermine Street. Two of the principal participants in the trial, Lord Burleigh and Sir Christopher Hatton, had great houses and therefore power-bases in the area: Burleigh about ten miles away at Burleigh House near Stamford to the north-east and Hatton at Kirby Hall, some twelve miles to the west. Hatton had a further Northamptonshire power-base at Holdenby, about forty miles distant. And yet Mary was moved there from more distant prisons in Staffordshire, where there were also Elizabethan loyalist power-bases and defensible castles (the obvious place that suggests itself is Ludlow, close to the Welsh ancestral area of the Tudors, about half the distance from Chartley, and even further from London).
 The decision to choose Fotheringhay cannot have been wholly strategic.                                                                                       

Elizabeth’s claim to the throne of England was tenuous. Henry VIII ruled by right of inheritance.
 His daughter, though, did not. Edward VI was undoubtedly legitimate, born more than nine months after the doubly-widowed Henry VIII had married his mother. Mary I had been retrospectively illegitimised by her father’s annulment of his marriage to her mother, but Henry had recognised her as a princess of the blood, and her succession to her brother was undoubtedly correct. Elizabeth’s position was much more dubious.  She had been conceived outside marriage (marriage to Anne Boleyn c. 25 January 1533, birth of Elizabeth 7 September 1533) and for the first two-and-a-half years of her life Catherine of Aragon was still alive. Moreover, Anne Boleyn’s marriage to Henry VIII had been annulled by Cranmer immediately before her execution, so even if Elizabeth was legitimate at birth, she had been retrospectively illegitimised. As the granddaughter of Margaret Tudor, elder daughter of Henry VII, Mary Queen of Scots had a much less questionable claim to the throne of England than did her elder cousin.
 So, probably, did the daughter of Margaret Tudor’s second marriage, Margaret Douglas, Countess of Lennox, and her descendants, and it is with the succession of James VI and I that the certainly legitimate Plantagenet heir again ascends the throne.

        Fotheringhay itself is the ancestral church of the House of York. The castle and manor were granted by Edward III to his fifth son, Edmund of Langley, Duke of York, and it was he who initiated the building of the magnificent collegiate church, of which only the nave now survives as the parish church. Edmund of Langley died in 1402 and was buried at his birthplace, King’s Langley in Hertfordshire,
 but his son Edward, second Duke of York, carried on his work, and when he was killed at Agincourt on 25 October 1415, he was buried in the quire of the then partly-built church at Fotheringhay. His nephew and successor Richard, Duke of York, was initially buried at Pontefract after his death at the battle of Wakefield in 1460 (his head having been removed and displayed, topped with a crown of paper and straw, on Micklegate Bar at York).
 His son Edward IV was crowned in 1461, but the Yorkist hold on the throne did not seem secure until after the capture and imprisonment of Henry VI in 1465. Arrangements were then made for the transfer of Richard, Duke of York’s, body to Fotheringhay where he was given a royal funeral in 1466:

Item ther was ordeyned a Hersse in which laye the bodye chestid and above the Cheste an ymage like to the prynce lying up right In a surcot & a mantell of blew furrid withe ermyn […] & on his hede a Cape of maintenans with an angell stondying in whitt holding a crowne over his hede In tokyn that he was kyng of right’.
  

He was also buried in the quire, near the altar. His widow, Cecily Neville, was buried beside him at her death in 1495: no longer Queen Mother, but Queen Mother-in-Law.

Fotheringhay and its rich college – established to pray for the souls of Richard II, the Lancastrian kings Henry IV and Henry V and the Yorkist founders – were surrendered to the Crown in 1539, but allowed to continue until 1548, presumably because Henry VIII (who, it is a cliché to say, probably never ceased to regard himself as a Catholic) wished to continue to pray for the souls of his ancestors and those whose heir he claimed to be – like Henry himself, Fotheringhay encompassed the Houses of both York and Lancaster.  But on 28 January 1547 Henry died, and in 1548 Fotheringhay was granted to John Dudley, Duke of Northumberland, who at once stripped the lead roofs off the quire and some of the collegiate buildings, which were later demolished. The nave – the parish church and therefore not part of the grant to Dudley – remained untouched.

          Dudley’s demolition of the ancestral church of the Yorkists – and by extension of the Tudors – is interesting, and makes one wonder at what point he conceived the ambitions which were so apparent in his attempt to place a Dudley dynasty on the throne through the marriage of his son to Lady Jane Grey, and which were carried on by his son Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester.  But Dudley fell, and the desecrated monuments of the Dukes of York remained in the bare ruined quire until the visit of Elizabeth Tudor to Fotheringhay in 1573. She was disgusted by the lack of respect shown to her ancestors, and ordered that their remains should be reburied in the parish church, where they now rest on either side of the altar (in what would be the chancel/sanctuary if the church had one) in identical monuments. The freestone monuments are from a good local workshop,
 architectural and heraldic, but without figures, Fotheringhay became again the Yorkist/Tudor ancestral church.

        In thus commemorating (however comparatively cheaply)
 her Yorkist ancestors, the notoriously careful Elizabeth did more for them than she did for any other of her relations. Henry VIII had grandiose plans for his tomb at Windsor, but the porphyry sarcophagus which he had confiscated from Wolsey (who had intended it for his own) now surmounts the body of Lord Nelson, and the great bronze candlesticks cast for it are in the cathedral of St. Bavon at Ghent. Edward VI lies in Westminster Abbey under the altar at the head of the tomb of Henry VII – Christ’s Hospital which he founded installed a stone recording this in 1966.
 Mary I had ordered in her will that the body of her mother, Catherine of Aragon, should be brought from Peterborough and buried beside her, along with ‘honourable tombs or monuments’.
 Nothing was done and the only markers of Mary’s tomb during the reign of her sister and successor were the stones from the broken altars which were piled on it.
 It was perhaps for fear of reviving memories of Anne Boleyn’s unpopularity and her own dubious legitimacy that Elizabeth did nothing to redress her mother’s shameful burial in the Tower, but the omission is nonetheless worth noting.

        So why did Elizabeth pay for the Yorkist tombs? It was from the Yorkists, rather than the Lancastrians, whatever they claimed, that the second and third generation Tudors could derive their claim to be the legitimate heirs to the Plantagenets. These were the grandfather and great-grandfather of Elizabeth’s own grandmother and namesake, Elizabeth of York. But there is also the question of how the York blood, and so the claim to the throne, was derived.  It passes through three women: Philippa, daughter of Lionel, Duke of Clarence, her granddaughter Anne Mortimer, wife of Richard, Earl of Cambridge, and her great-granddaughter Elizabeth, daughter of Edward IV and wife of Henry VII. Granted that the other female conduit of the blood royal, Margaret Beaufort, had been memorialised in Westminster Abbey, it was appropriate for a female monarch to memorialise ancestors whose blood had been transmitted through the female line.

        Fotheringhay was a location redolent of Yorkist – and hence Tudor – legitimacy, a reminder of whence the blood which Elizabeth and Mary shared was derived. But there were other aspects of its history which made it a particularly appropriate venue for the execution of the Queen of Scots, aspects which are celebrated some ten miles away at Conington in Huntingdonshire.  Here, in one of his two adoptedly ancestral Conington churches,
 the antiquary Sir Robert Bruce Cotton traced his genealogy and the history of his lands in a series of ancestral memorials. The succession here starts with the Kings of Scotland (from whom Cotton claimed descent).
 Some of the proponents of Mary Queen of Scots’ claim to the English crown traced one of its bases to those same Scottish Royal Earls of Huntingdon. Fotheringhay and Conington were part of the same estate, which was held in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries by the King of Scotland as Earl of Huntingdon,
 and, as such, represented an area in which the King of Scotland had been a feudal vassal of the English Crown. That this was not forgotten is indicated by Cotton’s celebration.

        Fotheringhay was multiply symbolic as a location: it was the ancestral place of the line from which the legitimacy of the Tudor claim to the throne derived, and it was a place in which the rulers of Scotland had formerly acknowledged the rulers of England as their feudal overlords. The choice of location suggested that Mary owed Elizabeth not just gratitude and duty but allegiance: her treachery was not simply that of a foreign pretender, but of a native rebel. This was reinforced by the trial format – Mary was tried by her peers, in a reflection of a conventional treason trial in the House of Lords.

        Mary herself countered this drama of symbolic location with one of symbolic action.
 When told of her imminent execution, she announced that she was happy to shed her blood for her religion, and her last night was spent in an exemplary combination of prayer, the writing of testimonies to her willingness to leave her life of earthly suffering, and the distribution of keepsakes to her household and relatives (thus ensuring that, despite all attempts of her executioners, there would be relics available).
 When she came to her death, under her black gown – which had under-sleeves of purple, the colour of empire, and which was put off with her mourning gown – her dress was the scarlet and white of blood and innocence – the colour of martyrdom.  To the last her symbolic costume maintained her claims to reign. On the scaffold she countered with her own devotions the Protestant prayers of the Dean of Peterborough. The English placed Mary as a traitor to the head of her family and her feudal overlord. Mary played the role of Catholic martyr.

        There was also the question of decent, and non-controversial burial. The desire of the Elizabethan regime to avoid any cult of the queen-martyr is shown in the quite justifiable care which was taken to destroy any objects which might have associations with the execution. It was for this reason that Mary’s ladies were initially forbidden to join her on the scaffold – they were to have no chance to obtain keepsakes, either of her clothing or her blood, including the ruthless washing of Mary’s bloodstained lap-dog (Mary must have know the dog was with her – did she keep it there for comfort, or in the hope that its inevitably blood-stained fur might be a source of relics?). A burial-site had to be chosen which would be sufficiently remote to discourage pilgrimage but which would avoid the criticism that the body of one who was a queen-monarch and a close relative of Elizabeth had been treated disrespectfully. Fotheringhay was conveniently situated for this purpose close to Peterborough Cathedral, which already contained the body of Catherine of Aragon.

        It may be worth looking at the choice of Peterborough for Catherine’s place of interment. With her marriage to Henry VIII annulled – something she, of course, never accepted – Catherine remained not just Infanta of Aragon and Castile, but Princess of Wales: it was the legitimacy of her marriage to Prince Arthur that gave Henry VIII his grounds for annulment of their marriage. When Catherine died she should surely, to reinforce this point, have been taken to be interred with Arthur in Worcester Cathedral, where his splendid chantry still exists. Such a procedure, involving the transport of a lead coffin from north-east to south-west diagonally across the Midlands, would have been easy to arrange in a period in which such long-distance shifting of bodies was commonplace.
 As it was, there was some three weeks’ delay before a determination was made about Catherine’s burial place,
 and she was confided to a religious house, rather than to a cathedral.
 The two-day journey from Kimbolton to Peterborough (the coffin rested overnight at Sawtry) showed how wise Henry was not to have risked a long cross-country journey, although the funeral procession was that of a Princess Dowager – though not a queen – and on the grave-slab the arms of Spain were quartered with those of Wales, not those of England. Catherine was beloved by the people, and the whole of the route of her final two-day journey was lined with people anxious to show their respect. Her hearse survived until destroyed by iconoclasts in the Civil War.

        Mary was buried – between 1 and 2 a.m. on 1 August 1587, nearly six months after her execution – next to Catherine of Aragon. The magnificent royal funeral service was public, and held later that day, although those attending were mainly drawn from the local gentry – Noels, Knightleys, Montagues and Harringtons – in contrast to the great nobles who had tried her.
 A placard hung on the wall adjacent to her burial place which proclaimed her heir apparent to England was quickly taken down.
 Again, location is symbolically significant. Catherine of Aragon, like Mary Queen of Scots, had been a pretender to the English throne, her claims to queenship unjustified.  She was buried, like Mary Queen of Scots, if not with maimed rights, at least with the minimum of pomp to which her status entitled her. Their association in death was designed to suggest that they had in their lifetimes shared delusional claims.

        Mary was eventually moved by her son to Westminster Abbey, but her location there is again significant. She is not in the vault of King Henry VII, where her son James VI and I rests, but in the long run of ancestral women in the South Aisle of King Henry VII’s Chapel, where she lies between Margaret Beaufort and Margaret Douglas (James’s paternal grandmother, and herself a possible heir). James used her vault for the burial of his son Henry, Prince of Wales, and for his sad cousin and rival for Elizabeth’s throne, Arbella Stuart.  In her will Mary Tudor had tried to ensure that her mother would be posthumously granted the royal status she had lost in her lifetime. James did move his mother, but the status he posthumously granted her was royal ancestress, not rightful queen. Elizabeth herself was also to some extent sidelined, placed in the North Aisle in the vault where her sister Mary Tudor already lay, to be later joined by James’s infant daughters the Princesses Mary and Sophia: a line, not of royal ancestresses, but of royal dead-ends, the unfruitful daughters of the house.

          Elizabeth’s monumental piety at Fotheringhay may have provided the context for the exemplary location of the execution of Mary Queen of Scots, and I have adduced reasons for her possible motives in thus celebrating her Plantagenet ancestors, but the occasion for her having to perform this restoration may be more closely examined.
 The tombs were ruinous because John Dudley, Duke of Northumberland had desecrated the chancel in which they had originally been situated. Dudley undoubtedly had ambitions to control, if not take over, the throne. He also had good reason to hate and distrust the Tudors, his father having been executed by Henry VIII in 1510 in what was essentially a goodwill gesture to the English people at the start of his reign. If the unknown Welsh Tudors could achieve the throne through a mixture of rebellion and marriage, why should not the Dudleys? A Dudley programme for controlling the throne is observable, through the actions of two generations, from John Dudley’s marriages of his children to potential heirs (Lady Jane Grey and the Earl of Huntingdon) to Robert Dudley’s plans for his own marriage to Elizabeth I and that of his son to Arbella Stuart. A destruction of the ancestral burial place of the current regime may well have been part of this campaign, as well as an act of filial revenge. In repairing the tombs of her ancestors, Elizabeth was making an anti-Dudley as well as a pro-Tudor statement.

        While the change from prayer for the individual to celebration of the individual at the time of the Reformation may have been somewhat exaggerated,
 it is nevertheless a change which did take place, and the establishment, by (mainly new) families of ancestral burial places was a feature of sixteenth- and seventeenth-century monumentality. Nigel Llewellyn and Jerome Bertram have traced the degree to which new families shared the attitude of Major-General Stanley to ancestors – ‘I don’t care whose ancestors they were they’re mine now’ – and the steps they were prepared to take and facilities that were available to them to achieve this. These included the foisting of brasses, the invention of genealogies and ancestors, and the erection of series of family monuments to those ancestors who had unaccountably failed to do this for themselves.
 Not all of these family chapels indicated aspirations to establish more than a local dynasty: the monuments of the Cottons at Conington or the Poyntz at North Ockenden seem to have been erected more in a spirit of antiquarianism rather than with any wider ambitions. Many dynastic chapels to more powerful families, such as the Russells at Chenies or the Caves at Stanford-on-Avon, may signal no more than a desire for conspicuous consumption and a visible reinforcement of their power and connections for the benefit of the neighbours.
 Indeed, such family collections argue a desire for an assured exclusivity on what Donne calls ‘the last, busie, day’;
 one envisages prolonged aristocratic multi-generational family reunions postponing the little matter of the Final Judgement. These assemblages, besides emphasising the rooting of ancient families in particular locations
 perpetuate beyond death the social separation that the privileged enjoyed in life: the Russells will not rise in the mingled democracy of Stanley Spencer’s Cookham, but only in the company of other Russells, who, to adapt Sellar and Yeatman, ‘would understand’.
 

        While such assemblages may represent no more than a perpetuation of privilege, others may mark more interesting – sometimes overweening – aspirations. The extraordinary group of monuments put up by Godfrey Foljambe at Chesterfield is a good example.
 The Foljambes were recusants, and as a prominent Roman Catholic family with an estate in the area of Mary Queen of Scots’ captivity, constantly under suspicion, but the Godfrey who erected the monuments seems to have been a remarkably slippery character. He consistently denied being a recusant,
 but was questioned on suspicion of being part of the Babington Conspiracy. His appearances in the State Papers suggest that he may have been a double agent. The family chapel which he constructed around 1590 (his own monument is dated 1592), with its reference to the current decline in the family’s fortunes (something which could hardly have been helped by the amount he was evidently spending at the Hollemans atelier), may be connected with the execution of Mary Queen of Scots and the extinction with her of Catholic hopes of a reclamation of ‘Mary’s Dowry’:
 the chapel and its monuments may represent a memorialisation of a social and religious order which has now irrevocably passed.
  

If Geoffrey Foljambe’s funerary chapel was a lament for a past regime, other chapels show signs of having been conceived as ancestral locations for future dynasties. Chief among these is the Beauchamp chapel at St. Mary’s, Warwick. Like Fotheringhay, this must be read in the light of history. Here we have an assemblage that was clearly intended as the ancestral chapel of the Dudleys – a rival to Yorkist Fotheringhay. The Beauchamp Chapel was, of course, built on the orders of Richard Beauchamp, fifth and penultimate Beauchamp Earl of Warwick. The inscription on the tomb of Leicester’s son, Baron Denbigh, traces the Dudleys back to Richard Beauchamp, emphasizing the antiquity of their family claims to the aristocracy. This is indeed their ancestral chapel. Warwick, however, has other associations. Richard Beauchamp’s daughter Anne married Richard Neville, who was created Earl of Warwick, and is better known as Warwick the Kingmaker. The advance of John Dudley to the Earldom of Warwick upon the accession of Edward VI was because of his family connection to the Beauchamps, but he himself must have been instrumental in choosing his title and must have intended to revive memories of his immediate predecessor.  

Further evidence of the determination of the Dudleys to represent themselves as Beauchamps is found in the coronet worn by little Lord Denbigh. The son of Richard Beauchamp, Henry, sixth and last Beauchamp Earl, was created Premier Earl of England in 1444, and at the same time given permission ‘for himself and his heirs male to wear a golden coronet about his head, in the presence of the king and elsewhere’.
 There is no record of either Ambrose Dudley, Earl of Warwick, or Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester, attempting to enforce this right in the presence of Queen Elizabeth I, but Leicester is tacitly asserting it in his monument to his son.

        While the coronet does have rather spurious genealogical justification (the descent of the Dudleys from Richard Beauchamp was through the female line: they did not descend from Henry Beauchamp at all) it also carries unavoidable visual suggestions of royalty, and indeed Leicester had planned to place this child on the English throne in final achievement of the Dudley dynastic designs: before his early death there had already been plans to marry him to Arbella Stuart, niece by marriage of Mary Queen of Scots and representative of the junior Lennox-Douglas line. Lord Denbigh has the tomb of an infant prince.
 His death was in fact the end of the Dudley dynastic aspirations, but Leicester was not to know this at the time, although his wife’s age (about forty) must have meant that his hopes were diminishing.

        The deliberate echoing of the format of Richard Beauchamp’s monument in the tomb of Ambrose Dudley and the domination of the space by Dudley memorials (Lord Denbigh’s near the altar and Leicester’s own massive monument in addition to that of Ambrose Dudley) make for a spurious visual continuity between the fifteenth- and sixteenth-century Earldoms. The choice of Warwick as the location for the interment of Leicester and his son is again indicative of the Dudley dynastic aspirations: the obvious places for Lord Denbigh and his father to be buried were Wanstead, where Leicester had an estate and Lord Denbigh died, or Kenilworth, Leicester’s Warwickshire seat, which has a perfectly good church, although not one of the scale of St. Mary’s. Leicester seems to have concentrated his major benefactions in Warwick rather than Kenilworth, another indication of the aspiration to dignify Warwick as the ancestral place of the Dudleys, who were probably in fact a Nottinghamshire family. This was to be a place of pilgrimage to the tombs of kings, or at least king-makers.

        One other family – or at least, one other person – seems to have had ambitions similar to Leicester’s to build for her descendants a place of dynastic pilgrimage. This was Bess of Hardwick – Elizabeth Hardwick, successively Mrs Barlow, Lady Cavendish, Lady St. Loe and Countess of Shrewsbury. This daughter of an obscure Derbyshire squire seems to have obtained her education in power at the court of Edward VI as the wife of the experienced administrator, Sir William Cavendish, like Dudley, one of the ‘new men’ recruited to serve the Tudors. As such, she must have witnessed at first hand the rise and fall of both the Seymours and Dudleys in their attempts to control the crown, and could have heard from her brother-in-law George Cavendish, servant and biographer of Cardinal Wolsey, about previous attempts to control the Tudors. The Earl and Countess of Shrewsbury were the gaoler-hosts of Mary, Queen of Scots, for the greatest part of her captivity-exile in England. In 1574 Bess of Hardwick, with the connivance of the Countess of Lennox, who spent the winter of 1574-5 in the Tower of London as a consequence, managed to engineer a marriage between her daughter Elizabeth and Charles Stuart, Earl of Lennox and younger brother of Mary Queen of Scots’ second husband, Lord Darnley. The only child of this marriage was Arbella Stuart, whom Bess brought up after the early death of her parents.
 In her infancy Arbella was a pet of Mary Queen of Scots, and Mary and Bess discussed plans to marry her off to her cousin James VI.

        The Countesses of Shrewsbury and Lennox were playing a game for high stakes. The Countess of Lennox had no cause to love Mary, who was believed to be complicit in the murder of Darnley – indeed the commemorative Darnley Cenotaph demands vengeance – and may have preferred the idea that a grandchild by her second son, not descended from Mary, should succeed to the English (and possibly also the Scottish) throne. James VI was not a strong child. The Cavendishes were good breeding stock – of Bess’s eight children by Sir William Cavendish only two died in infancy and the remaining six all achieved adulthood, marriage and in most cases children.
 Margaret Douglas may have reckoned that she stood a better chance of being the ancestress of the monarch of England and Scotland from the marriage of her second son than from that of her first.  Bess and her Sir William Cavendish were both from the lower reaches of gentry families, but no worse born than the Dudleys, or, indeed the Tudors, who sprang from the marriage of an obscure Welshman to a royal widow. Mary seems to have been in some way complicit in at least the results of the marriage: in her will of 1577 she acknowledges Arbella as her niece and as Earl of Lennox and calls on her son James to respect Arbella’s right.
 Through Arbella the Douglas-Lennox and Stewart claims to both thrones might be guaranteed, Bess of Hardwick be the grandmother of a queen, with the Cavendishes established as royal kindred, and, as his negotiations over the marriage of his son to her show, Leicester might finally get a Dudley dynasty on the throne.
The Countess of Shrewsbury therefore set out to inaugurate a Cavendish chapel in All Saints, Derby. The location is again interesting: Derby is not particularly close to her main estates, at Chatsworth, Bolsover and Hardwick (the parish churches
 of all three contain Cavendish monuments) but it is much more accessible from London. She chose to adopt the south chancel chapel as the Cavendish burying place (the vault was used between 1607 and 1848).
 The great wall-monument designed for her by Robert Smythson
 survives, but the monument to the second Earl of Devonshire (d. 1628) is in fragments in the crypt,
 and the monuments of her descendants are scattered through various churches.
The Cavendish chapel was not, however, the Countess of Shrewsbury’s only attempt to establish a royal ancestral place. The High Great Chamber at Hardwick Hall is ostensibly a celebration of Elizabeth I
 (the frieze) and Elizabeth Hardwick (the Ulysses tapestries),
 the two being combined in the Eglantine table (always in the room) on which two Hardwick stags support the announcement that: ‘The redolent smele of Aeglantyne / We stagses exault to the deveyne.’ 
 Eglantine was one of the principal badges of Elizabeth I
 and this seems to declare the allegiance of the Countess of Shrewsbury and her Cavendish descendants to Elizabeth. It is noticeable, though, that a portrait of Arbella Stuart at the age of twenty-three months shows her wearing a dress embroidered with what looks like eglantine, and a necklace consisting of eglantine interspersed with stars.
 Eglantine is a symbol of virginity, and so suitable for a little girl,
 but may this choice of flower not signal the hopes placed in Arbella by her ambitious grandmothers? Her principal jewel is in the form of a crowned heart – again, susceptible to an innocent reading, but also possibly indicative of hopes for future sovereignty.

The Hardwick High Great Chamber is not, then, as has been pointed out, primarily designed as a throne room for Elizabeth, but rather as a setting for Arbella: not a setting for a visit from the present Queen, but for the future Queen, in which she would preside surrounded by the symbols of her royal predecessor (Elizabeth), her grandmother, and, appearing again and again, the Hardwick stags of her maternal kin.
 Here it may be relevant to note that there were two Halls at Hardwick – the Old and the New – apparently equally magnificent. That the New was not intended as a substitute for the Old is indicated by the work that continued on the Old Hall during the building of the New.
 It is probable that the Old Hall, which seems to have incorporated the Countess of Shrewsbury’s ancestral home
 was to provide accommodation for the family on future royal visits, while the New Hall would be given over to the use of Queen Arbella.
 Hardwick is conceived not just as the ancestral location of the Cavendishes, but as the ancestral location of the royal house which was to spring from them. The Halls are prodigy palaces not for the two Elizabeths (Tudor and Hardwick) who are ostensibly celebrated in the High Great Chamber, but for the queen who was being raised within their walls.

Which brings us back to Arbella’s aunt, Mary Queen of Scots, who was never at Hardwick,
 but featured largely in the infancy of Arbella Stewart, who seems to have inherited the Stewart silliness
 rather than the abilities of her Hardwick grandmother. Mary’s comparatively agreeable confinement in the various Talbot households had ceased before her transfer to Fotheringhay for her trial and execution. But Hardwick, as much as Fotheringhay, reminds us of the importance of topography, of location, of rootedness, in the lives of her contemporaries. What is being manipulated in the establishment of ancestral chapels, the building of prodigy houses, the choice of specific locations for climactic events, is not just lives and history, but geography and landscape. It is as though the previous history of a location may endorse the events that take place upon it: something akin to the evocation of a genius loci.

The importance of embeddedness in the local landscape is stressed in Ben Jonson’s To Penshurst, another celebration of ancestral rootedness in a locality which implies a lineage which does not, in fact exist:

    Thou art not, Penshurst, built to envious show,

    Of touch or marble; nor canst boast a row

    Of polished pillars, or a roof of gold;

    Thou hast no lantern, whereof tales are told,

    Or stair, or courts; but stand’st an ancient pile,

    And, these grudged at, art reverenced the while.

    Thou joy’st in better marks, of soil, of air.

    Of wood, of water: therein thou art fair. [...] 

    And though thy walls be of the country stone,

    They’re reared with no man’s ruin, no man’s groan

As in Jonson’s Penshurst poem, the landscape of the England visited by Elizabeth on her progresses became instinct with life. The various Ladies of the Lake, nymphs, satyrs, shepherdesses and Places
 who greeted her on her journeys were there not simply to compliment her but to embody the feelings of the country, envisaged as both people and location, for her.
 It is a commonplace that the reign of Elizabeth produced a growing sense of what it means to be English – of national identity, of difference – that is encapsulated by Shakespeare in John of Gaunt’s speech from Richard II:

This royal throne of kings, this sceptred isle,

This earth of majesty, this seat of Mars,

This other Eden, demi-paradise,

This fortress built by Nature for herself

Against infection and the hand of war,

This happy breed of men, this little world,

This precious stone set in the silver sea

Which serves it in the office of a wall

Or as a moat defensive to a house

Against the envy of less happier lands,

This blessèd plot, this earth, this realm, this England […]  (II.1.40-50)


Gaunt’s speech is full of references to the earth of England, and to its role as a breeder of men and kings – he calls it later ‘This nurse, this teeming womb of royal kings’ (ii.1.51) – and this idea of nativity, of organic relationship to the ground itself, may be central to the impulse visible today in so many parish churches to establish a family burial place. When Elizabeth restored the monuments of her ancestors at Fotheringhay, she made a statement, not just about her legitimacy, but about her Englishness. When she chose Fotheringhay as the location for the trial and execution of her cousin it was in the end her own rootedness in the ancestral ground which she chose for the final elimination of the would-be usurper which gave the act its legitimacy.

Appendix 1

‘The manner of the solemnity of the Scottish Queenis funeral, being the first of August, 1587, when she was buried in the Cathedral Church of Peterburgh.

‘Upon Tuesday, being the first of August, were the funerals appointed to be celebrated for the Scottish Queen, in the Cathedral Church of Peterburgh; and accordingly there were sent thither, from the Court, the Queen’s Houshold Officers; [....] the Heralds came down three or four days before, and appointed (together with the Bishop and the Dean) the place for the body to be interred, which was devised over against the lying of Queen Katherine [...]. There was a rich hearse erected above the first step of the quire, near to the place of the burial, and the whole quire and church were hanged with black. Upon Sunday at night, the thirtieth of July, the body was brought by torch-​light from the Castle of Fotheringhay [...] by Garter King at Arms, and other Heralds, with some number of horse, in a chariot made of purpose, covered with black velvet, and adorned with her ensigns accordingly, between one and two of the clock in the night: where attended for it, before the Church, the Bishop of Peterburgh, and the Dean of the Cathedral Church, the Master of the Wardrobe, Clarentius King at Arms, and divers, as well of her Majesty’s servants, as other persons; there came with the body six of the Scotish train, as Melvin, the Master of her Houshold, and Physician, and others: the body with the closures weighed nine hundred weight, which being carried, and attended orderly by the said persons, was committed to the ground in the vault appointed, and immediately the vault was covered, saving a small hole left open for the staves to be broken into. There was at that time not any offices of the Church service done […].’’
‘The order of the Buriall for Marie Queen of Scotts, att Peterborough, observed the first of August, on Tuesdaye, 1587.

Two Conductors with black staves in coates} The Sheryfes Bailie, and the Baylie of

Peterborough.

Poore men (one hundred) in gownes, two and two.

Two Yeomen Harbingers in clokes} John Hamshiere, and John Keyes.

The Standard borne by Sir George Savill, Knight.

Gentlemen in cloakes, two and two, viz.
Syxe Groomes.

The Deane of Peterborough’s man.

Mr. Stafforde’s sonne.

Master of Wardrope’s two men.

The Bishope of Peterboroughs Stewarde.

James Howland.

Edward Jackson.

Richard Kylefett.

Robert Cotton. 

The Lorde Compton, one man.

The Lady St. John, of Basinge, one.

The Lorde Willoughby, of Parram, one.

The Lorde Mordant, and Ladie, two.

The Lorde Dudley, and the Ladie, two.

The Ladie Marie Savell, one.

The Ladie Talbott, one.

The Lorde St. John, and the Ladie, two.

The Bishope of Peterborough, one.

The Bishope of Lyncolne, one.

The Erle of Lyncolne, and the Countis, three.

The old Countis of Bedford, Chief Mourner, three.

Gentlemen in Gownes.

Mr Worme. )

Mr. Howland. )

Mr. Horseman. )

Mr. Fermis. } three Sewars

Mr. Creuse.

Mr. Watsonn.

Mr. Alyngton.

Mr. Marmaduke Darrell.

Docture Fortescue Thomas.

Scottes in cloakes, seventeen.

A Scottish Preest.

Gownes.

Two Chaplayns to the Bishops aforesayde.

Mr. Fortescue, Master of Queene Elizabeth’s wardrobe.

The two Bishopps, Peturborough and Lincolne.

The greate Banner borne by Sir Andrew Nowell.

Mr Melvin, and Sir Edward Montague } Comptroller and Treasurer to the Queen of Scottes.

The Lord Chamberlayne. }

The Lorde Stewarde. } Great Officers.

The Lorde Dudley.

The Lord St. John of Basinge.

Two Yeoman of the Garde, in clokes, with blacke staves in their handes.

The halme and creaste borne by […] Pourcyvant of Armes.

The target borne by Rouge Dragon, a Pourcyvant of Armes.

The coate of armes borne borne by Somersett, Herald of Armes.

Then Clarentius, Kinge of Armes, and a Gentlrman Huisher goyng with him.

Then the Bodie was carried by these six Gentlemen, in clokes; viz.

Francis Fortescue.

William Fortescue.

Thomas Stafforde.

Nicholas Smythe.

Nicholas Hyde.

Fortescue, sen. of Aywood.

The Canopie borne by these four Knightes, viz.

Sir Thomas Manners.

Sir George Hastings.

Sir James Haryngton.

Sir Richard Knightley.

The Bodie assisted by these four Knightes, viz.

The Lorde Mordantt.

Lord Willoughby of Parham.

The Lorde Compton.

Sir Thomas Cycill, Knight.

Then Garter Kinge of Armes, and a Gentleman Huisher with him.

Then the Chief Mourner, the Countis of Bedford, assisted by the Erles of 

Rutland and Lyncolne, her trayne borne by the Ladie

St. John, of Basinge, who was assisted by

Mr. John Manners, Vize-Chamberlain.

The other Mourners, viz.

The Countis of Rutland.

The Countis of Lyncolne.

The Ladie Talbott.

The Ladie Marie Savill.

The Ladie Mordantt.

The Ladie St. John of Bletsoe.

The Ladie Manners.

The Ladie Cecill.

The Ladie Montague.

The Ladie Nowell.

Mistris Alington.

A Scotish Gentlewoman.

The two of the Yeomen of the Gardes, in clokes.

Scottish Gentlewomen, eight, two and two.

Then Gentlewomen of Countisses, two and two.

Then Baronissis and Ladies, accordinge to ther degree.

Then Gentlewomen.

The Countis of Bedforde, four.

The Countis of Rutland, three.

The Countis of Lyncolne, three.

Ladie St. John of Basinge, two.

Ladie Talbott, two.

Ladie Marie Savill, two.

Ladie Mordantt, two.

Ladie St. John of Bletneshie, two.

Ladie Manners, two.

Ladie Cycill, two.

Ladie Montegue.

Ladie Nowell, two.

Mystris Alyngton, two.

All Yeomen in Coates.

The Countise of Bedforde allowed for ten men.

The Countis of Rutlande, eight men.

The Countis of Lincolne, eight men.

The Ladie St. John of Basing, five men.

All Baronissis and Ladies, five a peece.

All Knightes, two men apeece.

All Knighte’s wyfes too apeece.

All Esquires one man a peece.’ 

(Nichols (1823), ii, 508-9, 513-519)

The final act of the funeral ceremonies took place two weeks later:

‘The 14th of August, Sir William Dethick, Garter, Knight, Principal King of Armes, being sent to Peterburgh, a rich pall of velvet, embroidered with the armes of the mighty Princesse, Mary Queene of Scotts, having letters directed to the Reverend Lord Bishoppe of Peterburgh, in that behalfe, which pall of velvet, embroidered, was by him solemnly caryed, and laid uppon and over the corps of the said late Queene, assisted by many Knights and Gentlemen, and much people at the time of divine service, and then the said Lord Bishoppe preached a Sermon, in that behalfe, in the morning, and made a great feast at dinner, and the Deane preached of the same in the afternoon.  

Then the Queene of Scotland was most royally and sumptuously enterred by the same Garter, on the 14th of August, in the yere 1587.’

(Nichols (1823), ii, 519-20)

Appendix 2

Upon the death of the excellent and pious Lady Lettice Countesse of Leicester who dyed upon Christmas Day in the morning 1634.

Looke in this vault and search it well

Much treasure in it lately fell

Wee all are robd and all doe say 

Our wealth was carried this away 

And that the theft might nere be found 

Tis buried closely under ground

Yet if you gently stirr the mould

There all our losse you may behould 

There you may see that face that hand 

Which once was fairest in the land 

She that in her younger yeares 

Matcht with two great English peares

She that did supply the warrs

With thunder and the court with stars

She that in her youth had bene 

Darling to the Maiden Queene

Till she was content to quitt 

Her favoure for her favoritt 

Whose gould threed when she saw spunn 

And the death of her brave sonn 

Thought it safest to retyre

From all care and vaine desire 

To a private countrie cell 

Where she spent her dayes soe well 

That to her the better sort

Came as to an holy court

And the poore that lived neare

Dearth nor Famine could not feare

Whilst she liv’d she lived thus 

Till that God displeas’d with us

Suffred her at last to fall

Not from Him but from us all 

And because she tobke delight 

Christs poore members to invite 

He fully now requites her love 

And sends His Angels from above

That did to Heaven her Soule convay

To solemnize His owne birth day
* Jane Austen, The History of England (c. 1791); William Wordsworth, ‘Mary Queen of Scots Landing at the Mouth of the Derwent, Workington,’ in Poems Composed or Suggested During a Tour in the Summer of 1833, first published in Yarrow Revisited, and Other Poems (1835). 


� Hertford had other associations in the relationship between England and Scotland: it was there in September 1561 that the Scottish Ambassador Maitland in a meeting with Cecil and Dudley put forward his compromise that ‘Mary should renounce her claim to the English throne during Elizabeth’s lifetime in return for recognition as heir apparent’: Simon Adams, ‘The Release of Lord Darnley and the Failure of the Amity,’ in Michael Lynch, ed., Mary Stewart: Queen in Three Kingdoms (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1988), pp. 134-5. For the discussions over the location for the trial of Mary Queen of Scots, see Conyers Read, Lord Burghley and Queen Elizabeth (London: Jonathan Cape, 1960), pp.  347 ff.


� David Howarth, Images of Rule: Art and Politics in the English Renaissance, 1485-1649 (Basingstoke and London: Macmillan Press, 1997) p. 164, notes the ‘long-standing historical association’ of Fotheringhay with ‘the royal house of Scotland’, and suggests that Elizabeth’s renewal of the tombs of the Dukes of York may represent an attempt to “capture’ a shrine for the English monarchy’, in defiance of this, particularly in the light of Mary Queen of Scots’ own claim to the throne being ultimately derived from their shared Yorkist monuments. Howarth makes a different emphasis from that in my argument, suggesting that ‘By imprisoning Mary at the center of what had been a significant holding of English land by the Scottish crown, Elizabeth hoped to negate symbolically the threat that her very existence presented to the stability of the Tudor regime’. In this he misses the historical subservience of the crown of Scotland to that of England on these estates, which were held by the kings of Scotland as vassals of the English crown.


� CSPD Elizabeth 2 1581-90, 1865, 365 ff. It had formed part of the estate of Catherine of Aragon, who had modernized it, although she did not like the place.


� Jasper Ridley, Elizabeth I (London: Constable, 1987), p. 258, ascribes the choice of Fotheringhay to Elizabeth’s belief that the trial would ‘attract less notice’ there.


� The journey from Chartley Hall took four days and was interrupted by one night at Hill Hall, near Abbot’s Bromley, and two nights in Leicester: Antonia Fraser: Mary Queen of Scots, 2nd edn. (London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1994) pp. 501-2.


� The descent from York was an important feature of the banners displayed in Henry VIII’s funeral procession: see Goodall (2002) p. 73. One of them showed ‘a banner of yorke with the marriage’, which Goodall interprets as referring to the match between Richard Duke of York and Cecily Neville (grandparents of Elizabeth of York), but which more likely refers to the marriage of Anne Mortimer and Richard, Earl of Cambridge, which joined the line of Lionel Duke of Clarence with that of the fifth son of Edward III, Edmund of Langley, Duke of York.


� As argued (according to his later account) by William Maitland, Ambassador from Mary Queen of Scots, in his meetings with Elizabeth in September and October 1561 when following Mary’s return to Scotland, he was pushing Elizabeth to declare Mary Heir Apparent: ‘[…] all that follow in religion the Kirk of Rome, your highness knoweth, think the king your father’s marriage with your mother unlawful, and consequently the issue of the marriage suchlike’.  (See Leah S. Marcus, Janel Mueller and Mary Beth Rose, eds., Elizabeth I: Collected Works (Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press, 2000), p. 68. The whole of Maitland’s records of the conversations occupy pp. 60-70). Jean Wilson in The Archaeology of Shakespeare (Stroud: Alan Sutton, 1995), p. 58, maintains that Mary had a far inferior claim to the throne than Elizabeth, but I must venture to disagree with her. For Elizabeth’s succession, see also Jenny Wormald’s splendidly bilious Mary Queen of Scots: A Study in Failure (London: George Philip, 1988), p. 181. For claims for Mary’s entitlement to the English throne through her descent from David I and James I of Scotland, so that she was accused of claiming through connections to the Saxons, Lancastrians and Tudors, see M. H. Merriman, ‘Mary, Queen of France’ in Lynch (1988), pp. 30-52, p. 32. For opposition to Mary’s claim based on the clause in Henry VIII’s will excluding foreign-born successors, see Jayne Elizabeth Lewis, Mary Queen of Scots: Romance and Nation (London and New York: Routledge, 1998), p.  20.


� It is noteworthy that at the death of Mary Tudor in 1558, all the possible Tudor heirs were female. In order of closeness in blood they were Elizabeth, Mary, Queen of Scots, Margaret Douglas – already the mother of Henry Stewart, Lord Darnley (b. 1545) and Charles Stewart, Earl of Lennox (b. 1555), Katherine Grey, Mary Grey and Margaret Clifford, Countess of Derby – at that stage married, but apparently as yet without a male heir. The closest adult male in line of succession was Henry Hastings, son of the Earl of Huntingdon, and representative, through his mother, Katherine Pole, who died in 1576, of the line of George, Duke of Clarence, younger brother of Edward IV. Hastings was married to Catherine Dudley, daughter of John, Dudley, Duke of Northumberland, and had younger adult brothers.


� Initially in the Dominican Friary, but when that was suppressed his tomb was transferred to the parish church. See Arthur Mee, The King’s England: Hertfordshire (London, Hodder and Stoughton, 1939), pp. 124-7; Nikolaus Pevsner (rev. Bridget Cherry), The Buildings of England: Hertfordshire (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1977), pp. 217-8.


� Paul Murray Kendall, Richard the Third (London: George Allen and Unwin, 1955), p. 40.


� S. J. Hunt, A History of Fotheringhay (Fotheringhay: Fotheringhay Restoration Committee, 1987), p. 1.


� Goodall (2002), p. 78, quoting the description of the funeral from ‘Wriothesley’s book of burials’. The manuscript was compiled during the reign of Henry VIII. Goodall dates this funeral to 1460, but it is not clear if the mistake is his or Wriothesley’s (probably the latter).


� Thomas Cocke, “The Repository of our English Kings’: The Henry VII Chapel as Royal Mausoleum,’ Architectural History 44 (2001), pp. 212-220, p. 213, notes that though Fotheringhay was the Yorkist funerary chapel, Edward IV chose to be buried at St. George’s Chapel, Windsor, but suggests that this decision was made on the grounds of expediency.  Edward seems however to have intended St. George’s Chapel as the location for his tomb and chantry, see Maurice Bond, The Romance of St George’s Chapel Windsor Castle, 12th edn. (Windsor: The Society of the Friends of St. George’s Chapel, 1981), p. 1 ff. It is interesting that Henry VIII chose to be buried at Windsor with the grandfather from whom he derived his claim to the throne, rather than at Westminster with his father.


� Hunt (1987), pp. 4-5.


� For this, and the possible authorship of the monuments, see Jonathon Edis, ‘Beyond Thomas Kirby: Monuments of the Mordaunt family and their Circle, 1567-1618,’ Church Monuments 16 (2001), pp. 30-43, passim.


� The accusation of cheapsakery on Elizabeth’s part derives from William Camden (see Howarth (1887), p. 164), but the use of local stone may have been symbolic of the Yorkist ties to the area rather than an example of Elizabethan thrift. If Edis is correct in his tentative but plausible identification of the author of the monument group of which the Fotheringhay monuments form a part with the mason Ward of Gawcott, who may be Roger Ward, a mason who worked for William Cecil at Burghley House, there may be the additional factor of the use of a native craftsman, in opposition to the London statuaries, who at this stage were almost all of Low Country origin, and in contrast to her father and grandfather who had both used foreign artists and/or materials. The monuments are of very high quality. 


� Westminster Abbey: Official Guide (Westminster: Dean and Chapter of Westminster, 1988), p. 70.


� Antonia Fraser, The Wives of Henry VIII (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1992), p. 429.


� Westminster Abbey (1988), p. 69.


� The other is about fifteen miles south in Cambridgeshire.


� It was at Conington that Ben Jonson (a schoolmate of Cotton’s and a fellow-guest with their joint school-master William Camden) saw the vision of his son dead of the plague in London. I am sure that a history of Westminster School and the scholars influenced by Camden would be a valuable contribution to English political and intellectual history.


� See K. J. Stringer, Earl David of Huntingdon 1152-1219: A Study in Anglo-Scottish History (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 1985), pp. 2 ff, 104 ff, and especially Map 3, p. 106.


� For a list of Lords participating in the trial, see John Nichols, ed., The Progresses […] of Queen Elizabeth I (London: John Nichols and Son, 1823), ii, 495-6.


� See Wilson (1995), pp. 56-8. There are discussions of Mary’s enactment of Catholic martyrdom in Wormald, (1988), pp. 186-7.


� For these relics, see Fraser (1994), pp. 533-4, 538.


� For the trial as spectacle, see Lewis (1998), pp. 42, 46. At the time of Mary’s death Elizabeth’s regime was staging a counter-celebration of Protestant martyrdom in the form of the funeral of Sir Philip Sidney, which represented him as the exemplary loyal subject. See Jennifer Woodward, The Theatre of Death: The Ritual Managment of Royal Funerals in Renaissance England 1570-1625, (Woodbridge: The Boydell Press, 1977), p. 75 ff, and Vanessa Harding: The Dead and the Living in Paris and London, 1500-1670 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002), p. 256. She later remarks that ‘[…] occasions of national crisis, such as the assassination of Henri IV, evoked a public response that made use of funeral ceremonial on a grand scale, clearly demonstrating a belief in the political value of such a performance’ (p. 272). In her rule in Scotland Mary failed to show herself a dedicated Catholic: see, for instance, Julian Goodare, ‘Queen Mary’s Catholic Interlude’, in Lynch (1988), pp. 154-170, p. 162 and passim.  


� See Hugh Collinson, Country Monuments: Their Families and Houses (Newton Abbot: David & Charles, 1975), pp. 75 ff, and Estella Weiss-Krejci, ‘Restless Corpses: ‘secondary burial’ in the Rabenberg and Hapsburg Dynasties’, Antiquity 75 (2001), pp. 769-80, passim.


� Fraser (1992), p. 230.


� Peterborough was a Benedictine monastery until the Reformation, but was raised to the rank of a Cathedral by Henry VIII in 1541 (possibly because Catherine of Aragon was buried there). See Nikolaus Pevsner, The Buildings of England: Bedfordshire and the County of Huntingdon and Peterborough (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1968), pp. 305-6.


� Fraser (1992), pp. 429-30.


� ‘The manner of the solemnity of the Scottish Queenis funeral, being the first of August, 1587, when she was buried in the Cathedral Church of Peterburgh.’  See Appendix 1.   


� It read: ‘Maria Scotorum Regina, Regis Filia, Regis Gallorum Vidua, Reginæ Angliæ Agnata & Heres proxima: Virtutibus Regiis, & animo Regio ornata, jure Regio frustra sæpius implorato, barbara, & tyrannica Anglorum crudelitate atque sententia ornamentum nostri seculi, & lumen vere Regium extinguitur: eodemque nefario judicio et Maria Scotorum Regina morte naturali, & omnes Superstites Reges, plebeii facti, morte [civili] mulctantur. [Novum & inauditum tumuli genus, in quo, cum vivis mortui includuntur], hic extat: cum sacris enim Divae Mariae cineribus, omnium Regum, atque Principum violatam atque prostratam Majestatem hic jacere scito: et quia tacitum hoc Monumentum Regale satis superque Regis sui officii monet, plura non addo, Viator.’ [Mary Queen of Scots, Daughter of a King, Widow of a King of France, Cousin and next Heir to the Queen of England, endowed with Royal virtues, and a Royal mind (the right of Princes being oftentimes in vain implored) by barbarous, and tyrannical cruelty, the ornament of our age, and truly Royal light, is extinguished. By the same unrighteous judgment, both Mary Queen of Scots, with natural death, and all surviving Kings (now made common persons) are punished with civil death.  A strange and unusual kind of monument this is, wherein the living are included with the dead; for, with the sacred ashes of this blessed Mary, know, that the Majesty of all Kings and Princes, lieth here violated, and prostrate. And because regal secresy doth enough and more admonish Kings of their duty, traveller, I say no more.] Nichols (1823), ii, 519-20.


� See Julia M. Walker, ‘Reading the Tombs of Elizabeth I,’ English Literary Renaissance (Autumn 1996), pp. 510-530. I am grateful to Dr Pippa Berry for drawing this article to my attention.


� Elizabeth’s linear piety at Fotheringhay was not confined to her ancestors’ monuments – she also constructed a bridge in 1573 and supported the grammar school. See John Nichols, The History and Antiquities of […] Fotheringhay, in Bibliotheca Topographica Britannica iv, vi, vii (London: John Nichols, 1787), pp. 21, 44; Peter Whalley, ed., The History and Antiquities of Northamptonshire Compiled from the Manuscript Collections of the late learned Antiquary John Bridges, Esq., 2 vols. (Oxford, T. Payne et al, 1791), ii, 449, 456.


� In this context it is worth noting that if Mary had accepted Elizabeth’s 1564 offer of Leicester as a possible bridegroom, the next dynasty could have been the Dudleys. Did Elizabeth make the offer in the knowledge of Leicester’s ambitions? The match foundered on Leicester’s reluctance – he still had hopes of achieving Elizabeth herself.  See Wormald (1988) p. 147. The Darnley marriage had the advantage of uniting the two lines of possible claimants to the English throne descended from Margaret Tudor (those of James V and Margaret Douglas and her husband Matthew Stewart Earl of Lennox) and two lines of claimants to the Scottish throne (James V and Lennox). See Wormald (1988), p. 148, for Lennox’s claim to both kingdoms.


� Early records of pre-Reformation funerary inscriptions, such as John Weever’s Ancient Funerall Monuments (London: Thomas Harper, 1631), record a large number of fifteenth and early sixteenth-century epitaphs which celebrate the individuality and achievements of the deceased and which are no longer extant, suggesting that the corpus of surviving inscriptions may be distorted in favour of brevity and anonymity. Brasses were stolen for their metal value, but the associations of such inscriptions with clerics may have led to their disproportionate destruction. See Weever (1631), pp.  350-701, passim. 


� Nigel Llewellyn, ‘Claims to Status through Visual Codes: Heraldry on Post� Reformation Funeral Monuments’, in Sydney Anglo, ed., Chivalry in the Renaissance (Woodbridge: The Boydell Press, 1990), pp. 145-60; Nigel Llewellyn, Funeral Monuments in Post-Reformation England (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2000), pp. 300 ff; Jerome Bertram, ‘The Weston Brass at Rugeley, Staffordshire’, The Antiquaries Journal 72 (1992), pp. 180-83.


� The Caves had connections, made much of on their tombs, to both the Cecils and the Knollys.   


� John Donne, The Relique, l. 10, in John Donne, Poems, ed. Herbert Grierson (London: Oxford University Press, 1933), pp. 55-56.


� This aspect of monuments is well treated in Hugh Collinson’s Country Monuments: Their Families and Houses (Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1975), which also deals with the nationwide webs of family connections which may be traced through monuments.  Examples are those of the Russell sisters, daughters of the second Earl of Bedford, buried at Chenies (the Countess of Warwick), Appleby, Cumberland (the Countess of Cumberland) and Tawstock, Devon (the Countess of Bath).


� See W. C. Sellar and R. J. Yeatman, 1066 and All That (London: Methuen, 1930), p. 26 (about the Magna Carta): ‘Barons should not be tried except by a special jury of other Barons who would understand’.


� See Nikolaus Pevsner, The Buildings of England: Derbyshire (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1953), pp. 97-8; Jon Bayliss, ‘A Dutch Carver: Garrett Hollemans I in England’, Church Monuments 13 (1998), pp. 87-105, p. 92.


� In the light of this it is interesting that his own monument, erected in his lifetime, has entirely pagan imagery: could he conceivably have been an unbeliever?


� For the encouragement of Catholics to think of England in these terms, see Eamon Duffy, The Stripping of the Altars: Traditional Religion in England 1400-1580 (New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1992), p. 256 ff.


� It is also possible that Godfrey Foljambe was rather hoping to be favoured by James VI and I, whose succession to the throne was pretty secure, in gratitude for the family’s loyalty to James’s mother.


� Sir Bernard Burke, Extinct Peerage (London, Harrison, 1883) 32a. In my remarks on the effigy of Lord Denbigh in my article ‘The Noble Imp: The Upper-Class Child in English Renaissance Art and Literature’ in The Antiquaries Journal 70.2 (1990), pp. 360-379, pp. 360-1 and fn. 10, I was unaware of the Beauchamp privilege.


� He may, of course, have had royal blood: as the great-grandson through his mother, Lettice Knollys, of Mary Boleyn he was Elizabeth’s first cousin twice removed, and his great-grandfather may have been Henry VIII, making him possibly Elizabeth’s great-nephew. This putative relationship also of course may have existed between Elizabeth and Lord Denbigh’s elder half-brother, the Earl of Essex. The attempts of the Dudleys to ally with the Knollys line through the proposed marriage of the male heir of the Dudleys, Philip Sidney, to Essex’s sister, Penelope Devereux, may have been related to these dynastic ambitions.


� Charles Stuart died in 1576; Elizabeth Cavendish Stuart in 1582.


� Henry Cavendish married Grace Talbot, daughter of the Earl of Shrewsbury, and had no children from the marriage, but had illegitimate children; William Cavendish was the ancestor of the Earls and Dukes of Devonshire; Charles was the ancestor of the Dukes of Newcastle; Frances married Sir Henry Pierrepont and was the ancestress of the Earls and Dukes of Kingston; Elizabeth married Charles Stewart and Mary married Gilbert Talbot, heir to her stepfather, the sixth Earl of Shrewsbury.


� Fraser (1994), p. 464.


� Ault Hucknall for Hardwick and Edensor for Chatsworth.


� Pevsner (1953), p. 113.


� Mark Girouard, Robert Smythson & the Elizabethan Country House (New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1983) p. 169 and plate 81.


� Llewellyn (2000), p. 264.


� Mark Girouard, Hardwick Hall (London, The National Trust, 1989) p. 56.


� The story of Ulysses and Penelope seems to have had a particular resonance for the Countess of Shrewsbury – the motif recurs at Hardwick in the form of needlework and a panel painting. See Girouard (1989), pp. 23, 70-1.


� Girouard (1989), p. 58.


� See Roy Strong, The Elizabethan Image: Painting in England 1540-1620 (London, The Tate Gallery, 1969), p. 46; Janet Arnold, Queen Elizabeth’s Wardrobe Unlock’d (Leeds: Maney, 1988), pp. 31, 39, 40 and 371, under ‘rose’.


� Girouard (1989) p. 10.


�  ‘The Unknown Girl’ of 1569, attributed to the Master of the Countess of Warwick, in the Tate Gallery wears a costume embroidered with white and red sweetbriar.


�  For another example of the subtle and ambiguous indication of dynastic aspirations in embroidery see the portrait of Lettice Knollys, Countess of Leicester (c. 1585) by George Gower in the collection of the Marquess of Bath (see Strong (1969), p. 54). See Appendix 2.


� See David Bostick, ‘Plaster Puzzle Decoded’, Country Life (26 July 1990), pp. 76-79; Girouard (1989), p. 15.


� Girouard (1989), p. 15.


� Girouard (1989), p. 13.


� Girouard (1989), p. 15. On a royal visit it was usual for the family to vacate the premises and the Queen to take them over. Only builders on a huge scale, such as Burleigh, could remain in their own house when the Queen came to stay.


� The bulk of the work on the Old Hall, and the entire building of the New, took place after her execution.


� Or what Simon Schama has described as ‘The Stuart genius for alienating virtually everyone’: Landscape and Memory (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1975), p. 156.


� The heart of Penshurst Place is the work of Sir John de Pulteney, dating from c. 1338-1349. The house then passed through several owners, including the Dukes of Buckingham, until it was granted by Edward VI to Sir William Sidney (c. 1482-1554) in 1552. The Sidneys, although of ancient Sussex ancestry and connected to the Brandons, Dukes of Suffolk, were essentially ‘new men,’ and closely connected to the Dudleys through Henry Sidney’s marriage to Mary, the daughter of John Dudley, Duke of Northumberland. Sir Philip Sidney was thus the nephew of the Earls of Leicester and Warwick and, except during the lifetime of that Baron Denbigh buried in St. Mary’s, Warwick, the male heir to the Dudley family.  This may explain Elizabeth I’s well-known distrust of him. See Penshurst Place (Derby: English Life Publications, 1987) p. 20.


� Ben Jonson, To Penshurst, ll. 1-8, 44-5. For the live landscape, see also Emilia Lanier’s The Description of Cooke-Ham (London, 1611).
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